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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to today's hearing of the City Council's

          4  hearing on Transportation. My name is John Liu and I

          5  have the privilege of chairing this Committee.

          6                 First let me apologize to all in

          7  attendance for the delay in the commencement of this

          8  morning's hearing. There has been a great deal of

          9  news concerning the fiscal condition in a report by

         10  our Mayor that was given to my colleagues in the

         11  City Council and myself.

         12                 So that was the cause of the delay.

         13  At this point, most of the discussions have been

         14  finished, although there continue to be many

         15  discussions downstairs, and colleagues on this

         16  Committee, as well as off this Committee, will be

         17  joining this hearing in and out through the

         18  remainder simply because of those meetings that

         19  continue to take place.

         20                 Today's hearing is on Intro. 365 and

         21  Intro. No. 305. Both of these bills seek to remedy

         22  problems that concern the regulation of awnings and

         23  canopies in New York City.

         24                 We are fortunate to have in

         25  attendance today deputy commissioners from both the
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          2  Department of Transportation and the Department of

          3  Buildings, agencies upon which this legislation

          4  would have a direct impact. Welcome, and thank you

          5  for your participation.

          6                 It's important that we hear from both

          7  of these agencies because they each play a role in

          8  the permitting and regulating of awnings and

          9  canopies.

         10                 DOT has jurisdiction over canopies,

         11  and DOB, Department of Buildings, has the

         12  jurisdiction over awnings.

         13                 Intro. No. 305 seeks to modify the

         14  Administrative Code pertaining to both agencies. It

         15  would add a 60-day correction period before a

         16  penalty for a illegal canopy or awning could be

         17  imposed and would require a certified letter be sent

         18  to the premises stating that an illegal condition

         19  exists. A business owner would then have 90 days to

         20  correct the problem.

         21                 Intro. No. 305 would also address

         22  more critical situations where rather than issuing

         23  an immediate penalty for awnings or canopies that

         24  present a public safety threat, business owners will

         25  be issued a letter requiring the correction with an
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          2  illegal condition within five days of receipt.

          3                 Intro. No. 365 seeks to expand the

          4  definition of what may be printed or stenciled on a

          5  street canopy or awning.

          6                 Intro. No. 365 would expand the range

          7  of what written material a street canopy or awning

          8  may contain.

          9                 Currently, business owners may only

         10  have the name of their establishment and street

         11  address.

         12                 Intro. No. 305 would enable them to

         13  include their phone number, logo and other

         14  descriptive information that is relative to the

         15  business at hand. Intro. No. 365. I stand corrected.

         16                 Both of these bills seek to help

         17  small businesses in New York City. As we all know,

         18  New York is a City that thrives on

         19  pedestrian-centered retail. Unlike other cities, New

         20  York's neighborhoods are dotted with mom and pop

         21  shops that must compete with larger chain type

         22  retail stores.

         23                 In order to do so, these stores must

         24  be able to not only advertise their wares, but they

         25  must also avoid paying costly fees and penalties.
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          2                 Let's face it, doing business is hard

          3  enough in New York City, and there is a lot that we,

          4  as elected officials, can do to make it easier for

          5  the little guy to compete.

          6                 This is particularly crucial in

          7  today's economic recession where we are all facing

          8  increasingly difficult economic times.

          9                 I would also like to point out that

         10  some of the complaints that my colleagues and our

         11  constituents here in the City Council have heard

         12  with regard to the maintenance and enforcement of

         13  street canopies and awnings.

         14                 Some business owners tell us that

         15  neither they, nor the company they employ to make

         16  their signs, have a clear understanding of what

         17  written information is actually permissible.

         18                 Additionally, some business owners

         19  tell us that once they spend money to remedy an

         20  illegal canopy or awning or pay the resulting fine,

         21  they are often ticketed for another.

         22                 It is also important to point out

         23  that upon issuing a notice of violation, the section

         24  of law in violation is not indicated, so business

         25  owners do not actually know how to remedy the

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  problem.

          3                 I look forward to hearing from these

          4  business owners about where they feel legislative

          5  change should occur so that they do not feel

          6  unjustly penalized by the City. We certainly do not

          7  want to be in the business of enabling law that

          8  hurts you, the lifeblood of our community.

          9                 I thank you all once again for taking

         10  time from your busy schedules to join us today, I'd

         11  like to note that we've been joined by Council

         12  Member Hiram Monserrate from Queens and Council

         13  Member David Weprin also from Queens.

         14                 Councilman Weprin is the author of

         15  Intro. 365, and Councilman Hiram Monserrate of

         16  Intro. 305.

         17                 I'd like to ask Council Member Weprin

         18  to give us a brief statement about Intro. 65.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman. Good morning, I think we just made it

         21  under the wire, and members of the Transportation

         22  Committee.

         23                 I'm most appreciative that you are

         24  holding this hearing because the legislation facing

         25  you this day, Intro. 365, is of crucial importance
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          2  to almost every store owner in the City of New York.

          3                 It was recently brought to my

          4  attention by a number of store owners in my district

          5  that they had received notices of violation, that

          6  awning signs in front of their stores did not

          7  conform to City Administrative Code standards.

          8                 This meant that their awnings were to

          9  be removed, the violation corrected, and the awning

         10  rehung.

         11                 It was quite surprising to me to

         12  learn that so many store keepers were in violation

         13  and had what I thought to be dangerous sign

         14  conditions on their establishments.

         15                 Upon studying the notices of

         16  violation, I learned that these notices were given

         17  out because of such issues as having their telephone

         18  numbers, hours of business, listing of items sold

         19  and pictures of the items that could be purchased in

         20  the store printed on the awning in letters larger

         21  than 12 inches in height.

         22                 These constitute serious violations

         23  of a section of the New York City's Administrative

         24  Code that was promulgated back in 1961, when store

         25  awnings, as we know them today, did not exist.
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          2                 The 1961 regulation indicates that

          3  only information to appear on an awning is the name

          4  of the establishment and its address.

          5                 In 1961, generally the only awnings

          6  that were the state-of-the-art in the City of New

          7  York were used in the summertime, and they were used

          8  for shade purposes and they were rolled out on hot

          9  days and they were rolled in on cooler days, so

         10  clearly the 1961 regulation on ordinance is clearly

         11  archaic today.

         12                 Whether this regulation to be fully

         13  enforced by the Buildings Department, one could

         14  estimate that thousands of store owners in every

         15  community of New York City would be in violation.

         16  And enforcement of this ordinance means that one has

         17  to remove the sign, correct the violation and rehang

         18  the sign, a simple procedure that can cost the

         19  shopkeeper a few thousand dollars, hardly a

         20  reasonable cost.

         21                 While I am informed by the Buildings

         22  Department that these violations are only complaint

         23  driven, I was shocked to find that last month an

         24  entire block of stores in the Floram Park Community

         25  which I represent were served notices of violations.
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          2                 My staff and I have met with these

          3  store owners, basically mom and pop operators, who

          4  in some cases have served their community more than

          5  20 years and now find themselves faced with the

          6  horrendous possibility of seriously considering

          7  closing their stores, because they cannot afford to

          8  correct this type of violation.

          9                 I know several such store owners are

         10  here this morning, who have been victimized by the

         11  existing Administrative Code and are seeking relief.

         12                 It is my hope that you will listen to

         13  them and see the hardships created by the existing

         14  codes.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         17  Member Weprin, and we have a brief statement about

         18  Intro. 305 by Council Member Hiram Monserrate.

         19                 We've also since been joined by

         20  Councilman Jim Gennaro, who was sitting here, and

         21  also Council Member Helen Sears. Both also of

         22  Queens.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chair. And let me first and foremost thank you

         25  in your attention to both these very important bills
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          2  that have been presented here at the City Council to

          3  deal with the growing issues in our small business

          4  community, especially out in Queens but throughout

          5  the City.

          6                 I represent Corona, Jackson Heights,

          7  and Elmhurst in East Elmhurst, where there is a

          8  vibrant small business entrepreneurial spirit for

          9  many immigrants who have decided to call America and

         10  the City of New York their home, and I was truly

         11  saddened by what I saw occurring at 103rd Street, in

         12  particular, and National Street in Corona, business

         13  upon business had no sign or canopy, and I'm happy

         14  that some of those merchants have come out here

         15  today, and additionally I'm very proud that our

         16  Borough President Helen Marshall is also here and

         17  we'll be hearing from here. She has been an advocate

         18  on this issue, and she's here also in support.

         19                 And to my colleague, David Weprin,

         20  for also recognizing the importance of helping small

         21  business owners with regard to this issue and

         22  working collectively with me in this Committee and

         23  this Council to deal with the issues that impact

         24  upon small businesses. So, thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council
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          2  Member Monserrate.

          3                 We have a brief statement by

          4  Councilman Jim Gennaro.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chairman.

          7                 I'm happy and proud to join with all

          8  of my colleagues who have taken leadership on this

          9  issue, I was happy to join in the prime sponsor of

         10  both of these pieces of legislation. I think

         11  everyone who has spoken before me has said it better

         12  perhaps than I will and all the good things that

         13  needed to be said have already pretty much been

         14  said, but I bring to the table the perspective of

         15  someone who is the son of my father who ran a mom

         16  and pop jewelry store for 40 years and what it took

         17  to make that store run and what they had to

         18  experience in terms of harassment from government

         19  officials and regulations that didn't make any

         20  sense. And so this is just a common sense, a common

         21  sense fix to harassment of businesses at a time when

         22  we can least afford to drive businesses out of the

         23  City.

         24                 And I'm so gratified and heartened,

         25  not only by the leadership of this Committee and
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          2  those who have sponsored this bill, but the presence

          3  of our Borough President who is going to speak on

          4  behalf of the mom and pop shops throughout the City,

          5  so I thank all of my colleagues, I'm happy and proud

          6  to be here. God bless you all.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

          8  Councilman Gennaro.

          9                 We've also been joined by Councilman

         10  Oliver Koppell from the Bronx and a member of the

         11  Committee.

         12                 Let me at this time thank the members

         13  of the Administration for their patience and

         14  indulgence and invite the honorable Helen Marshall,

         15  the president of the Borough of Queens, to come up

         16  and give us your comments about these bills.

         17                 Welcome, Madam Borough President.

         18                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: It's nice

         19  to come home. It's a pleasure to be here with you

         20  this morning, and on such a crucial and important

         21  topic, particularly at these times when our budget

         22  is really being devastated by cuts.

         23                 Good morning. Thank you for giving me

         24  the opportunity to appear here this morning to

         25  address Intro. 305 and Intro. 365, affecting the use
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          2  of awnings and canopies.

          3                 However, there is a larger and more

          4  important issue that I think needs the attention

          5  from this Committee, but I certainly support both of

          6  these bills; that is the enforcement of local laws

          7  pertaining to signs.

          8                 Not long ago I was driving down

          9  Astoria Boulevard in my neighborhood, and was

         10  surprised to see no sign on the Decorda Hardware

         11  store, a business that has been there for years, a

         12  thriving business. I immediately thought they were

         13  going out of business.

         14                 When I stopped in I learned that the

         15  Department of Buildings had issued them a violation

         16  for their sign. Hence, it had to be removed and a

         17  new sign had to be designed, contractors had to be

         18  engaged, and permits issued before the new sign was

         19  in place.

         20                 Decorda Hardware was not the only

         21  business that received a violation. Other businesses

         22  along the street in Corona Plaza, and you've heard

         23  Councilman Monserrate, who is our Councilman in our

         24  area, speak about it, in Corona Plaza at 103rd

         25  Street off Roosevelt Avenue, they were fined. While
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          2  I understand the need for the signage to be put up

          3  safely and in accordance with the law, I do not want

          4  an unfair burden placed on shop keepers, especially

          5  those in these economically troubled times.

          6                 As I moved around on National Street,

          7  it appeared that nearly every business was going

          8  out, and what happens is when they take the signs

          9  down or the awnings down, what you see is the

         10  original wall which is pretty ugly, and that's what

         11  people are seeing and they're getting the impression

         12  that these stores are going out of business and that

         13  also adds to the depression of the pedestrians and

         14  the people - oh my God, are things this bad.

         15                 I suggest that the City and

         16  Department of Buildings issue a moratorium for

         17  storeowners to remedy their signs without large

         18  fines or penalties, and give them a chance to keep

         19  their existing signs until the new ones are in

         20  place.

         21                 I have discussed this with

         22  Commissioner Lancaster, and she says she can't do

         23  that. Well, I think it should be considered. Or else

         24  we need to stop doing this for awhile and let these

         25  store owners catch up.
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          2                 In terms of the bill being proposed,

          3  it is the small business owner who stands to be the

          4  most effective.

          5                 Let me say that the goals of the two

          6  bills are laudable and I support them, though I do

          7  not believe they go far enough.

          8                 First, I would extend the coverage of

          9  the proposed legislation to include commercial signs

         10  as defined by the Building Code, to be sure we have

         11  the same kinds of problems with awnings and canopies

         12  that we have with signs.

         13                 Awnings and canopies can pose the

         14  same kind of safety hazard or provide false or

         15  inadequate information about their business.

         16                 While the Building Code does regulate

         17  the use of signs more than that of awnings and

         18  canopies which this bill could correct, small

         19  business owners do not always understand the rules.

         20  The City sometimes seems arbitrary in its

         21  enforcement practices.

         22                 Therefore, I certainly favor

         23  providing small business owners with ample

         24  opportunity to correct awnings and canopy

         25  violations.
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          2                 However, I would go beyond the

          3  proposed bill scope and make those who fabricate and

          4  install the signs and awnings and canopies at least

          5  be responsible as store owners are, for compliance

          6  with applicable local laws.

          7                 Often the store owners rely on the

          8  manufacturers and contractors for their experience.

          9  Therefore, the manufacturer should inform the

         10  business people what permits are necessary prior to

         11  the placement of the awning or canopy.

         12                 With specific regard to Intro. 365, I

         13  support the bill because it states specifically what

         14  information may be included on awnings and signs.

         15                 Again, I would apply this provision

         16  to signs as well. Anyone who has walked around in

         17  our business commercial neighborhoods has at one

         18  time or another been confused by some of the signs

         19  or awnings on stores, sometimes to the point that it

         20  becomes difficult to determine the nature of the

         21  business being conducted within the premises.

         22                 It should be noted that the

         23  Department of Small Business Services works very

         24  closely with merchants to develop comprehensive

         25  signage programs.
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          2                 I urge the Department of Buildings to

          3  coordinate more with the Department of Buildings.

          4                 Again, it is important to protect the

          5  interest of small business owners and their

          6  customers, both of which groups contribute so much

          7  to the economic vitality of our borough and our

          8  City, especially now in an era of high costs such as

          9  taxes and energy that have made it difficult for our

         10  small businesses. Thank you.

         11                 Thank you for your time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Madam

         13  Borough President.

         14                 We have been joined by Council Member

         15  Sarah Gonzalez of Brooklyn and Council Member Diana

         16  Reyna also of Brooklyn, both of whom are members of

         17  the Transportation Committee.

         18                 Are there any questions or comments

         19  for the Borough President?

         20                 Council Member Monserrate.

         21                 Thank you, Madam Borough President.

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Late last

         23  night I did get a copy of the Department of

         24  Buildings storefront sign requirements, and they're

         25  quite lengthy. You are supposed to have permits to
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          2  hang them, especially beyond a certain size. There's

          3  rules and regulations, but I don't know of any

          4  business people who really have this, they really

          5  need this in their hands and certainly the people

          6  who fabricate the signs, they need to have this,

          7  too. And by the way, many times the sign fabricators

          8  are also people who are immigrants and new to the

          9  country and don't always know the rules. So we have

         10  to really get this information out to our business

         11  communities.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Council Member

         14  Monserrate.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         16  Thank you, Borough President, for your presentation

         17  here this morning. And I'm in agreement with you,

         18  there needs to be more outreach on the part of the

         19  Department of Buildings and Business Services to

         20  inform some of the small business.

         21                 Madam Borough President, let me ask

         22  you this: Has your office received many complaints

         23  about these canopies?

         24                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Sure.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And have
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          2  you noticed at least, at the very least anecdotally,

          3  if there is specific areas in Queens where there

          4  have been a higher number of these complaints?

          5                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Well, I

          6  think the area you specify, Corona Plaza is like a

          7  nightmare. A merchant from Corona Plaza was the

          8  first one to approach me on it, and he told me of

          9  the expenses that he's incurred which are

         10  horrendous.

         11                 And you know many of our merchants

         12  not only pay their lease for the store, but they

         13  also pay the real estate taxes for the owner of the

         14  building.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I had

         16  heard complaints obviously from Corona, which is the

         17  area I represent, and also from Fresh Meadows and

         18  Flushing, I thought maybe if your office might have

         19  received some of these complaints from some of the

         20  other areas.

         21                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: My office

         22  has received complaints from all over the Borough.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         24  Thank you, Madam Borough President.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: A question from
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          2  Council Member Weprin.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Yes, first I

          4  want to thank the Borough President for her

          5  leadership on this issue, as well as others, and I

          6  know she's constantly out there in Queens fighting

          7  for the mom and pop store owners, because as we all

          8  know, Queens is a city of immigrants, a borough of

          9  immigrants, we have probably more ethnic groups and

         10  nationalities than any other county in the country,

         11  and the way a number of our new immigrants have

         12  upward mobility and really rise to positions of

         13  stature and influence and enabled to support their

         14  families are mom and pop store owners, and that's

         15  throughout every ethnic group. It's not unique to

         16  any one particular group, but it's clearly a way of

         17  upward mobility and to provide for families and for

         18  hard-working new immigrants and it's very important

         19  that we keep that in mind when we're dealing with

         20  mom and pop stores. So, I want to praise your

         21  leadership, Borough President, on this issue. And I

         22  just wanted to clarify that even though I refer in

         23  my legislation to awnings, basically the awning

         24  signs that I refer to are really the

         25  state-of-the-art signs that appear throughout my
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          2  district and other districts throughout the City of

          3  New York, where they're basically, they consider an

          4  awning, the Building Department, any sign that

          5  protrudes out more than 12 inches.

          6                 So, basically all of the signs on the

          7  mom and pop stores throughout the City of New York

          8  would come under the category of the awning, they're

          9  not really awning their signs, but those seem to be

         10  the state-of-the-art, at least in Union Turnpike

         11  where I am and Hillside avenue, and the other main

         12  thoroughfares in my district. So, I want to thank

         13  you again for your leadership on keeping in mind the

         14  small business owner and how important they are to

         15  the vitality, not only Queens County, but the entire

         16  City of New York.

         17                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Well, I

         18  certainly praise you and Council Member Monserrate,

         19  for your foresight and Chairman John Liu, for

         20  bringing this issue forward, we're definitely

         21  reacting to the needs of the people.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         24                 We've been joined by Council Martinez

         25  from Brooklyn and a member --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Manhattan.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Brooklyn ain't

          4  Manhattan. That bad. But Manhattan is good.

          5                 Council Member Miguel Martinez from

          6  Manhattan, a member of the Transportation Committee,

          7  and we have one last question from Council Member

          8  Helen Sears.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Actually, it's

         10  really a short one, but it's good to see you back at

         11  home.

         12                 It was stated earlier, I think in

         13  reading an opening statement, that all of these

         14  violations are complaint driven, which means that

         15  they come basically from the community residents

         16  that are directed to the community boards or

         17  elsewhere; how do you see reconciling the

         18  frustrations of the community and also the time and

         19  the needs that the small businessman requires in

         20  order to do this?

         21                 I think you made a point about they

         22  don't know the rules, and that probably is the first

         23  way to start.

         24                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: But all of
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          2  those complaints are driven by community residents,

          3  and I think that with all that we're hearing we need

          4  to kind of somehow resolve the two together.

          5                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: My real

          6  suggestion is that we go to the people who make the

          7  signs, okay? And before they put a sign up, it's

          8  clear that they have to make it clear to the store

          9  owner that he has to have a permit before putting it

         10  up.

         11                 And now with these bills we're going

         12  to even define further, some of the awnings are

         13  ridiculous, okay? There's no question about that.

         14  And a store can have maybe a 18- or 20-foot frontage

         15  and the sign is bigger than everything. So that I

         16  think in some ways to have a little more uniformity,

         17  certainly when we have, as we have in Jackson

         18  Heights, where we have an historical district, along

         19  37th Avenue we have these beautiful purple awnings

         20  and the name of the store is on it and it does give

         21  a certain sophistication and beauty to the

         22  community, but we don't always have historic

         23  districts, not easy to establish. But I think

         24  regulations in the sign and it should be informative

         25  to the people as to what they sell in the store,
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          2  whatever. You can have that in the name of the

          3  store.

          4                 I do feel your question about the

          5  public, I question the fact that a whole block, a

          6  whole area could be attacked with one complaint.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, in many

          8  cases it might be one landlord that, for instance,

          9  that's true in some commercial areas where they own

         10  the entire series of those blocks and that would

         11  affect so many of them.

         12                 I think the comments that you've made

         13  are very helpful in that we should work at really

         14  trying to bring the community and the commercial

         15  areas together, because we need the commercial areas

         16  and those merchants need the communities to shop in

         17  them.

         18                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Madam

         21  Borough President. Thank you for your time today.

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Thank

         23  you.

         24                 We have also been joined by

         25  Councilman Lanza, from Staten Island, and a member
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          2  of the Transportation Committee.

          3                 At this time I'd like to ask the

          4  representatives of the Administration to join us at

          5  the witness table. We have David Woloch, who is the

          6  Deputy Commissioner of the Department of

          7  Transportation, and we also have Robert LiMandri,

          8  and Robert Iulo from the Department of Buildings.

          9                 Welcome, and thank you for attending

         10  today's hearing.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Good

         12  morning. My name is Robert LiMandri. I'm Deputy

         13  Commissioner for the Department of Buildings. Thank

         14  you for inviting us today to talk about Intro. 305

         15  and 365.

         16                 Before I start the testimony, I do

         17  want to make a few comments, and what several of you

         18  have spoken about, the Borough President, yourselves

         19  included, is the outreach program.

         20                 Since the Commissioner, Commissioner

         21  Lancaster, has taken her role in leading the

         22  regulatory agency Department of Buildings, she has

         23  made an effort to reach out to business owners, and

         24  the idea of not only public safety, but making sure

         25  that we enhance the Economic Development of the
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          2  City, is primary on our mind.

          3                 And in fact, with regards to the

          4  small business owner, and signage, we have had to

          5  date four meetings with groups of constituents in

          6  some of your districts. We've gone ahead and put out

          7  a particular sign regulation which describes the

          8  specifics of what they need, and we've actually

          9  interviewed and discussed with approximately ten

         10  different industry groups specifically relating to

         11  this issue.

         12                 So, prior to my testimony, I just

         13  wanted to make you aware that we are enhancing our

         14  communication, all of these things can be found on

         15  the web through the Buildings Information System,

         16  and frankly we have gone way out of our way to

         17  deliver that information, not to say that that is

         18  the only thing we should be doing.

         19                 And, so, I'll start with my testimony

         20  now.

         21                 I'll discuss Intro. 305 first.

         22                 For reasons I'll discuss shortly, the

         23  Department cannot support 305 or 365 today. 305,

         24  first, as a threshold matter, this bill seeks to

         25  amend both Title 19 of the Administrative Code
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          2  concerning transportation and Title 26 of the Code.

          3                 The enforcement of the Transportation

          4  Law has been delegated by the City Charter of the

          5  Department of Transportation, which will be speaking

          6  to you a bit later.

          7                 The Buildings Department jurisdiction

          8  includes Title 26, concerning among other things our

          9  enforcement procedures, and Title 27, the Building

         10  Code, which contains the substantive requirements

         11  concerning building construction and safety.

         12                 The Transportation Law sets for a

         13  scheme of procedures used by the Department of

         14  Transportation to regulate canopies, which are

         15  awning-like structures with poles that touch the

         16  street.

         17                 These procedures are completely

         18  separate and distinct from the procedures used by

         19  the Buildings Department to enforce the provisions

         20  of the Building Code, including the section

         21  concerning awnings, structures that extend out of

         22  the building that don't touch the ground. Thus, our

         23  testimony will only address the provisions of Intro.

         24  305 affecting the Buildings Department.

         25                 These provisions found in Section 3
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          2  of the bill concern the enforcement of Section

          3  27-313 of the Admin Code.

          4                 In this section it sets forth how far

          5  awnings can project beyond the street line, and what

          6  materials awnings can be made of.

          7                 It does not regulate canopies at all.

          8  In sum, Intro. 305 requires that prior to the

          9  issuance of a criminal court summons or notice of

         10  violation, predicated on 27-313, DOB must send the

         11  responsible party a letter, a certified letter,

         12  identifying the nature of the illegal condition.

         13                 DOB must then be responsible 90 days,

         14  to give 90 days to the party to cure the vio.

         15                 Only after the expiration of the 90

         16  days may DOB issue a summons for NOV. A penalty may

         17  not be imposed sooner than 60 days after the NOV

         18  summons issuance, and the responsible party can

         19  correct the violation during that 60 days.

         20                 Where the awning poses an imminent

         21  threat to public safety, the bill requires that the

         22  DOB send a certified letter, describing the illegal

         23  condition of a responsible party. The responsible

         24  party then has five days to correct. If that does

         25  not happen, the DOB may take any measures
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          2  appropriate to correct the illegal condition.

          3                 As an initial matter, if passed, the

          4  last provision of 305 would create a substantial

          5  safety risk.

          6                 Currently, if an awnings condition

          7  creates an imminent hazard, the Department is

          8  authorized to arrange for its immediate removal.

          9                 The DOB should not have to wait five

         10  days after an owner has received a certified letter

         11  before being allowed to direct the removal of an

         12  imminent hazard.

         13                 In such cases, a delay of five or

         14  more days before the DOB could act as a serious

         15  compromise to public safety, by giving the awning

         16  five more days to collapse and injure.

         17                 Even when imminent public safety risk

         18  is not involved, the procedures set forth in Intro.

         19  305 would create substantial impediments to the

         20  efficient and effective enforcement of the Admin

         21  Code awning requirements, without affording an

         22  opportunity to be responsible to that party that

         23  isn't already otherwise available.

         24                 In other words, there are procedures

         25  in place today that gives the awning, the business
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          2  owner, the ability to correct.

          3                 Currently the most Department

          4  violations are heard before the Environmental

          5  Control Board or ECB, currently all non-hazardous

          6  vios are provided with a 35-day cure period, during

          7  which time the offending condition can be removed or

          8  legalized without any penalty whatsoever.

          9                 And there are additional ways to

         10  rectify that without actually taking that sign down,

         11  which you alluded to earlier, which we can discuss.

         12                 Furthermore, a reduced penalty can be

         13  obtained by correcting that violation at any time

         14  before the first hearing date, which is currently no

         15  more than 60 days after the NOV is filed.

         16                 Additionally, when as an alternative

         17  to ECB enforcement, the Department issues criminal

         18  summonses, the responsible party is usually given

         19  ten days advance notice, and that's before the

         20  illegal condition, before the summons is issued.

         21                 And, again, we use the Criminal Court

         22  summons, again, as a means to further our

         23  enforcement, and that is not the first motive of

         24  enforcement.

         25                 Indeed we are unaware of evidence
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          2  suggesting that the current cure period is

          3  inadequate.

          4                 Additionally, as noted above, the

          5  bill would require that the DOB send the responsible

          6  party a certified mail notice of the violating

          7  condition, which would require that the DOB would

          8  wait 90 days before issuing a violation, and require

          9  that the violation allowed to a further 60-day cure

         10  period.

         11                 Although 27-313 violations concerning

         12  awnings written by the Department is small, to the

         13  extent to which the violations are written, a

         14  proposed enforcement system is considerably more

         15  complicated, drawn out and labor intensive than that

         16  of all of the other ECB violations that we write.

         17  Hence, it both reduces the Department's efficiency

         18  and effectiveness in our enforcement efforts.

         19                 The scheme would also enforce the

         20  Department to incur new costs, the costs that would

         21  relate to, among other things certified mail

         22  expenses, computer programming, attracting a 90-day

         23  wait period, and then the 60-day period.

         24                 In sum, Intro. 305 creates a public

         25  safety risk, hampers the Department's ability to
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          2  enforce the law, and would impose costs on the City

          3  that far exceed an appreciable benefit.

          4                 In contrast, 365's amendment to

          5  Section 19-124 to the Administrative Code, would

          6  not, if it passed, create the enforcement

          7  difficulties that 305 would. In fact, it would not

          8  affect Title 26 at all. Rather, it amends the

          9  Transportation Law to permit telephone numbers,

         10  business logos and any descriptive words upon

         11  canopies.

         12                 As this provision conflicts with

         13  other regulations concerning canopies that are under

         14  the Department's jurisdiction, the Department must

         15  oppose this bill as well.

         16                 Under the City's current regulatory

         17  scheme, the provisions concerning what type of

         18  signage may appear on the canopies are contained in

         19  the zoning resolution.

         20                 Section 19-124, even as amended by

         21  the current bill, acknowledge this by only

         22  permitting canopy signage or other ornamentation

         23  within the limitations proscribed by the zoning

         24  resolution. Yet, by permitting business, telephone

         25  numbers and logos on canopies, as well as the
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          2  vaguely defined descriptive words, the proposed

          3  amendment would come in direct conflict with the

          4  zoning resolution. And the zoning resolution, as you

          5  know, gets updated on a regular basis since 1961.

          6                 The two provisions specifically state

          7  the commercial copy on canopies and commercial on

          8  manufacturing districts is limited to the business

          9  name or address. They must forbid telephone numbers,

         10  logos and other descriptive words and categories.

         11                 Since Intro. 365, if enacted, would

         12  only amend Title 19 under the Department of

         13  Transportations' jurisdiction and the not the zoning

         14  resolution, the Department of Buildings enforcement

         15  of awning and canopy signage regulations would be

         16  completely unaffected. However, by permitting awning

         17  and canopy signage, that the zoning resolution

         18  expressly forbids, the bill would create a direct

         19  conflict between the Administrative Code and the

         20  zoning resolution, causing confusion for the general

         21  public regulatory agencies in sign orders.

         22                 In closing, the Department

         23  understands the City's regulations concerning awning

         24  and canopy signage are complicated, especially to

         25  small business owners who are not familiar with the
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          2  Building Code and zoning resolution. We absolutely

          3  agree with you. While the Department opposes the two

          4  bills being heard today, we do believe that the best

          5  way to promote the code and zoning compliance and to

          6  prevent the writing of unnecessary violations, is to

          7  make sure that the greatest sense possible is that

          8  the public is educated, which you described earlier,

          9  and we, as the Department of Buildings, would

         10  continue to support that effort, where we would go

         11  out to communities and hold, actually hold

         12  information seminars, if you'd like.

         13                 To that effect, the Department has

         14  engaged in this outreach, and we would be more than

         15  happy to continue to do that.

         16                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         17  address both bills and I turn it over to the

         18  Department of Transportation. Thank you.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Good

         20  morning, Chairman Liu, and members of the Committee

         21  on Transportation. My name is David Woloch, and I am

         22  the Deputy Commissioner for External Affairs at the

         23  New York City Department of Transportation.

         24                 I'm pleased to be here this morning

         25  to discuss Intro. 305, Intro. 365 relating to the
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          2  regulation of awnings and canopies throughout the

          3  City.

          4                 As noted by the Department of

          5  Buildings, DOT is responsible for the regulation of

          6  canopies, while DOB has jurisdiction over awnings.

          7                 Therefore, my testimony will focus

          8  only on the canopy aspect of the bills.

          9                 We have reservations about these two

         10  bills and are of the opinion that the current

         11  mechanisms in place for the regulation of canopies

         12  are more than sufficient and do not require any

         13  change.

         14                 Both of these pieces of legislation

         15  focus on concerns that are adequately addressed and

         16  would result in a less effective strategy for the

         17  regulation of canopies.

         18                 These bills would disrupt the

         19  existing balance between business, safety and

         20  quality of life interests, and could increase the

         21  overall level of visual clutter throughout the City.

         22                 Canopies may not be placed on any of

         23  the city's sidewalks without a yearly permit issued

         24  by DOT.

         25                 The process for acquiring a permit is
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          2  similar to that of acquiring other DOT permits

          3  application, including drawings and a proof of

          4  insurance must be filed with DOT along with the

          5  requisite fee of $50, and $25 if it's in connection

          6  with a sidewalk cafe.

          7                 There are currently 1,345 canopy

          8  permits issued throughout the City with the large

          9  majority of them being in Manhattan.

         10                 DOT's Highway Inspection and Quality

         11  Assurance Unit, HIQAU, is charged with reviewing

         12  canopy permits, as well as for the enforcement of

         13  canopies for safety and compliance with DOT's

         14  highway rules.

         15                 Upon observing an illegal or unsafe

         16  canopy, HIQUA will issue a notice of corrections via

         17  certified mail to the business owner and the

         18  property owner.

         19                 The business owner will then have 30

         20  days to cure any defect or to submit an application

         21  to legalize an illegal canopy.

         22                 This 30-day period is consistent with

         23  other violations, such as illegal encroachments, for

         24  example.

         25                 If the condition is not corrected
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          2  within the 30-day period, then a summons would be

          3  written and personally served to the business owner.

          4                 The summons is then adjudicated by

          5  the Environmental Control Board and could result in

          6  a fine of $100.

          7                 The strength of the current mechanism

          8  is supported by its success. Over the past three

          9  years, over the past three City fiscal years, from

         10  July 2000 to February of 2003 of this year, we've

         11  given out 271 notices of correction, and

         12  approximately 90 percent then complied with the

         13  notices without summonses being issued, which is a

         14  pretty good record.

         15                 The high rate of compliance, taken

         16  together with the low number of complaints on

         17  canopies, strongly indicates that our policy has

         18  achieved an appropriate balance between its

         19  sensitivity to business needs and assuring the

         20  regulations are followed.

         21                 Intro. 305 would upset this balance.

         22  The proposed legislation would extend the period

         23  available to cure any defect from 30 days to 90 days

         24  and prevent the imposition of a penalty until

         25  another 60 days is passed.
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          2                 In effect, this translates into

          3  giving a business owner five full months to correct

          4  an illegal condition.

          5                 This would unnecessarily allow an

          6  illegal or defective canopy to remain in place,

          7  create a disincentive to abide by the law and allow

          8  illegal and defective canopies to proliferate

          9  unchecked.

         10                 Moreover, tinkering with the

         11  allowable time frame to respond to an illegal canopy

         12  condition, sets a dangerous precedent for the other

         13  types of violations, that DOT and other City

         14  agencies issue.

         15                 The legislation would also negatively

         16  impact public safety, and this is perhaps the most

         17  important point.

         18                 At present DOT has discretion to

         19  remove a canopy if deemed dangerous. Intro. 305

         20  would hinder this discretion by preventing the

         21  removal of such canopies until five days elapse from

         22  the receipt of a certified letter describing the

         23  illegal condition.

         24                 Even if the canopy in question

         25  represents an imminent threat to public health and

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  safety. And as we've said here before many times on

          3  other issues, we can never compromise public safety,

          4  first and foremost is their our concern.

          5                 Like Intro. 305, Intro. 365 also

          6  seems unnecessary. Intro. 365 removes the section of

          7  the Administrative Code that prohibits canopies from

          8  being used inappropriately for advertising purposes,

          9  and that's adding to our City's already heightened

         10  visual noise.

         11                 Intro. 365 would allow additional

         12  information including logos and any descriptive

         13  words to be emblazoned upon canopies, thus resulting

         14  in an overall and geometric increase in the visual

         15  clutter and aesthetic pollution experienced daily by

         16  New Yorkers, as canopies are converted into virtual

         17  sidewalk billboards.

         18                 In addition, as stated by the

         19  Department of buildings, this legislation would

         20  directly conflict with the City's zoning resolution,

         21  by permitting canopies to display prohibited

         22  information, such as telephone numbers, logos and

         23  any descriptive wording, the legislation would

         24  result in overall confusion for the general public

         25  regulatory agencies and sign owners.
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          2                 In addition, DOT has regularly

          3  received complaints from BIDs and community

          4  organizations, regarding canopies, and if passed,

          5  this legislation may result in an increase in volume

          6  of complaints that we receive.

          7                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          8  testify before you today, and I'd be happy to answer

          9  questions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for

         11  joining us today. I do have a couple of questions

         12  and I know several of my colleagues have questions

         13  as well.

         14                 First, does it make sense to both of

         15  you can canopies fall under the regulation of

         16  Transportation and awnings fall under the regulation

         17  of DOB?

         18                 Does that just in general make sense?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Certainly

         20  from DOT's perspectives, awnings is something that

         21  we should have nothing to do with because it really

         22  doesn't affect the area of public space that we're

         23  responsible for, the streets and the sidewalks.

         24                 Canopies clearly have relationship

         25  with both the building and the sidewalk and has
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          2  potentially great impact on sidewalk in terms of how

          3  close it is to the curb, fire hydrants and things

          4  like that. So, I think there's a good argument to be

          5  made that the current jurisdiction is something that

          6  makes sense.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Yes,

          8  the Department of Buildings would agree with that.

          9                 Frankly, you know, dealing with

         10  signage requirements, zoning resolution and the

         11  proximity to the building and being a part of the

         12  building is really where we see the line drawn.

         13                 I don't know where you were going

         14  with that. If you wanted to expand upon that, that

         15  would be great.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I just wanted to see

         17  if you guys thought it made sense.

         18                 Do you think that some of these

         19  issues that these two bills attempt to address,

         20  should those issues be consistent for small business

         21  owners, in terms of making it easier for the small

         22  business owners to understand what regulations they

         23  must abide by?

         24                 Let me put it another way. Are there

         25  any inconsistencies between the regulations that
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          2  your two departments put out with regard to their

          3  canopies and awnings?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: No. I

          5  would say no.

          6                 Basically the zoning resolution

          7  covers, for example, the copy or what is allowed to

          8  be on the sign, what is allowed to be on the canopy

          9  or the awning. So, it's not difficult to know what's

         10  allowed as far as copy goes.

         11                 What's regards to a canopy versus an

         12  awning, you do have to go to two different places

         13  for that, but most sign hangers, architects and

         14  engineers that sort of work in this, what I would

         15  call a space, or in this jurisdiction or type of

         16  area, typically are aware of the nuances.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I actually am close

         18  friends with someone who has been in the sign-making

         19  business for 30 years, and she says they actually

         20  don't know what's allowed on signs or particularly

         21  with regard to the signage that's present on awnings

         22  and canopies, and that's why we're having this

         23  hearing, to try to flesh out some of these issues.

         24                 One of the big complaints that we get

         25  from constituent small business owners is that even
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          2  if they get a violation, they don't know what they

          3  did wrong. Is it your feeling that small business

          4  owners really should understand exactly what they're

          5  in violation of, when they're told that they're in

          6  violation of either Title 26 or 27 of the New York

          7  City Administrative Code or New York City Zoning

          8  Resolution or related rules or regulations?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Most of

         10  the time what we have done is we write it out

         11  specifically, the detail. So, we do cite the code or

         12  the zoning resolution number. That's important so

         13  that if they want to do some follow-up or research

         14  or hire someone, they know where to go.

         15                 The second piece is that we do give a

         16  clip of what essentially where we're going with that

         17  and so written on the violation.

         18                 In fact, now the Department of

         19  Buildings has put a program into place that any

         20  violation that's been written since several weeks

         21  ago, you can actually go through the e-mail system

         22  through us and we can actually send you a copy or

         23  the person that you hire specifically, we can

         24  actually give you a screen print of the actual

         25  violation, who wrote it and the specific details on
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          2  that violation, which is really a scanned electronic

          3  version of the violation.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: And in

          5  terms of canopies, what the Department of

          6  Transportation does, when we do give a business

          7  owner a notice of correction, we do have a very

          8  clear checklist of all of the different aspects of

          9  canopies, and we say where the problem is.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Has the Department

         11  of Transportation actually issued many of these

         12  violations, or do the vast majority of the

         13  violations come from the Department of Buildings?

         14                 I understand the Department of

         15  Buildings probably doesn't issue any violations on

         16  canopies themselves. From a small business owner's

         17  perspective, I don't think they really understand,

         18  nor should they really be required to understand

         19  this nuance between where the jurisdiction of the

         20  Department of Transportation ends and the Department

         21  of Buildings begins.

         22                 So, from their perspective, I think

         23  that we have a job to make it simpler for them. But

         24  in terms of the actual violations issued for either

         25  canopy violations or awning violations, are the vast
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          2  majority of these violations coming from the

          3  Department of Buildings?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: I can

          5  tell you just in terms of the Department of

          6  Transportation piece, the number of notices of

          7  correction, which is the first part of the process

          8  that we give out, is fairly small.

          9                 So, for example, for this fiscal year

         10  so far, for three-quarters of the fiscal year, we've

         11  given out approximately 120 notices of correction

         12  Citywide.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And how many

         14  violations or notices has the Department of

         15  Buildings issued this past year, or, you know,

         16  roughly speaking?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI:

         18  Approximately 300 to 400 a month actually, we

         19  actually write, and particularly revolve around the

         20  zoning resolution. That's the discussion of what's

         21  actually printed on the sign.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, it seems to me

         23  that most, almost all of the complaints that we are

         24  trying to address through this legislation actually

         25  has to do with the Department of Buildings. We're
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          2  talking about 300 to 400 a month, compared to about

          3  120 for the year, 120 issued by the Department of

          4  Transportation.

          5                 Now, has this been a stable number

          6  over the years, a stable number in terms of the 300

          7  or 400 violations that the Department of Buildings

          8  has been issuing for canopies and awnings? I'm

          9  sorry, for just awnings.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Since

         11  about for the last four years, it's been stable.

         12  These are complaint driven, as one of you had

         13  discussed earlier, where the phone call comes in, we

         14  get the complaint and we go ahead and we go out on

         15  that complaint.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And the Department

         17  of Buildings has had a longstanding policy of having

         18  a complaint-driven process with no automatic

         19  inspection.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Well,

         21  let's back up.

         22                 We do have a very specific process in

         23  order to get something hung on a building. It goes

         24  through a plan exam process. That's not new.

         25                 We treat that and we review that and
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          2  we make sure that it makes sense, that they actually

          3  have the safety devices in place to erect that.

          4                 However, what happens over time one

          5  might surmise is that changes are made to those

          6  awnings, or canopies, for example, and it is very

          7  simple and very easy in the sign business to go

          8  ahead and recloth a sign, to add a piece to that

          9  sign, so it's not something where you might

         10  necessarily, if it was permitted, it may have

         11  changed over time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'll hold my

         13  questions until my colleagues have a chance to ask

         14  theirs.

         15                 Council Member Monserrate.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair.

         18                 Deputy Commissioner, going right

         19  towards enforcement, you're saying that your agency

         20  issues summonses, violations, 300 to 400 per month

         21  on average.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: With

         23  regard to the zoning resolution, yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Zoning

         25  resolution pertaining to the awnings, and
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          2  specifically to the awnings and the canopies and

          3  awnings?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LIMANDRI: Well,

          5  we're also including in that signs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay. So,

          7  the awnings an the signs.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI:

          9  Specifically for awnings is a smaller category of

         10  that, but most of the time when we get to a place

         11  which has an awning, it's results is all about the

         12  zoning resolution and about the actual copy on the

         13  awning.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay, I'm

         15  clear on that.

         16                 So, you're saying, on average,

         17  between those different categories, in essence we're

         18  talking about small businesses who advertise their

         19  business either by a sign or a canopy or an awning,

         20  300 to 400 per month is the average that you stated,

         21  you testified to that. So, is that the same average,

         22  you're saying that that's the same average for the

         23  last four or five years that there has been no

         24  increment to that?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: I don't
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          2  have a specific number. We could get back to you on

          3  that.

          4                 In general I would say that I have

          5  the Chief Inspector with me who is in charge of that

          6  unit, and he's telling me that it's about the same,

          7  maybe it's been a little bit more.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

          9  Well, since I know that the City of New York is very

         10  good at keeping statistics, perhaps your agency

         11  could provide to this Committee a statistical

         12  breakdown of the last five years, so we can do a

         13  comparative analysis on that, and that would be very

         14  helpful, and also would answer some of our

         15  questions, because I believe that, not only speaking

         16  for myself and for my colleagues, we believe that

         17  there's been a heightened enforcement specifically

         18  regarding these statutes. So, a statistical

         19  breakdown of the data that your agency have provided

         20  to us for our analyses would be appreciated.

         21                 One of the other things that I wanted

         22  to ask was specifically, both you and the other

         23  Deputy Commissioner raised the issues of public

         24  safety, of having unsafe awnings or canopies, and

         25  you've testified to some of your concerns of not
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          2  being able to deal with it or issue a violation.

          3                 How many times has an awning or a

          4  canopy fallen to the street? Do you have statistics

          5  on that? How many in the last year?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: In terms

          7  of canopies, none.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And

          9  awnings?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: We

         11  believe that it's very few.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: I guess

         14  the point that we were driving at was to put a cure

         15  period in if we thought that there was an imminent

         16  danger, we would not want to wait to react, and

         17  they're specifically writing it into the

         18  legislation.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I

         20  understand that. I know what the legislation says,

         21  I'm dealing also with some practicality issues.

         22                 There's a pizzeria on 103rd Street,

         23  Angelo's pizzeria, and he had to take his awnings.

         24  I'm not even sure what an awning or a canopy is, but

         25  generically he had an awning. He's had that awning
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          2  there for probably like 23 years, and recently he

          3  was issued a violation, and he had to remove his

          4  canopy or awning, whichever term you want to use,

          5  that's been hanging there on Corona and 103rd Street

          6  for about 23 years. So, when people raise to me the

          7  specter of public safety, of which I am one of the

          8  most strong advocates in this Council about public

          9  safety, I don't like the term being misused. And we

         10  talk about public safety but you can't determine to

         11  me how many of these awnings have fallen or injured

         12  someone, and I'm a little skeptical when I hear the

         13  term public safety in regards to the enforcement of

         14  these statutes --

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: If I

         16  could, just to clarify so that it's clear, an awning

         17  is different than a canopy in that a canopy actually

         18  goes out towards the street and is being supported

         19  by poles.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And the

         21  awning just hangs off the side of the door.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: That's

         23  right. And so that's the difference.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay. That

         25  being said, specifically regarding outreach, in your
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          2  testimony you stated that there has been some

          3  outreach; can you explain in detail what outreach

          4  this is and how you go about it?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: What

          6  has been done is we have been contacted by some of

          7  your colleagues specifically on certain areas, in

          8  particular, areas that perhaps the population

          9  doesn't specifically know the regulations of New

         10  York City, are people that have come here recently

         11  who don't have English as a first language. So, what

         12  we've done is, I think you've seen this, is we've

         13  actually developed a storefront sign program, which

         14  includes a pamphlet, which we've actually, it's at

         15  the printer now, we've put this into Spanish.

         16                 The second piece is that we've met

         17  with people like in Flushing with the Korean

         18  business owners, we've gotten calls from the Borough

         19  President's Office to meet specifically on these

         20  issues.

         21                 My colleague, Robert Iulo, the

         22  Assistant Commissioner for the people that actually

         23  do this work where we actually go out there, has

         24  explained the information, and certainly we would

         25  expand that outreach program to any of your
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          2  constituents.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you.

          4                 A few months ago I actually met with

          5  Commissioner Lancaster regarding this issue, before

          6  I actually introduced this bill and before

          7  Councilman Weprin introduced his bill, and when I

          8  met her, that pamphlet still wasn't developed. I had

          9  requested something to that extent in May of last

         10  year to be developed, and also the fact that many --

         11  I understand that we still haven't received them at

         12  my office, is the first point, and the second point

         13  is that translating this, not only into Spanish, but

         14  to some of the Asian languages, or some of the

         15  dominant immigrant groups that own small businesses,

         16  I think it's imperative.

         17                 But during that time frame while I

         18  was waiting, and perhaps the Borough President and

         19  other Council members were waiting for these

         20  pamphlets to be delivered and for this information

         21  to be given out, people continue to be receiving

         22  these violations and having to take off their signs.

         23                 And this relates to my next question:

         24  On average, how long does the permit process take,

         25  between the time that a store owner contracts with
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          2  someone, whether it's a licensed architect, or a

          3  licensed hanger, sign hanger, how long does that

          4  process take to be issued a permit?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: I'm

          6  glad you brought that up. I just want to back up for

          7  one second. Speaking about different languages and

          8  being able to communicate is one of the mantras of

          9  what we're all about at the Department of Buildings

         10  since we've gotten there within the last year, and,

         11  frankly, in some boroughs we've actually gone ahead

         12  and taken the specifics of the normal questions,

         13  frequently asked questions when you come to a

         14  borough office, and we've actually translated that,

         15  it's most prevalent in the Brooklyn office where I

         16  think we have it translated into sort of the initial

         17  questions you get, actually meet a customer service

         18  rep, and we actually give you the specifics of where

         19  to go, what you need, in about eight languages.

         20                 In addition, all of these pamphlets,

         21  this is just one out of a series of 26 pamphlets,

         22  eight of them are already published and on the web.

         23  So, you don't need the pamphlet, you, again, can

         24  just go to a website.

         25                 Specifically we've been trying to
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          2  make our Department transparent, so not only can you

          3  get this information of like what to do, but will

          4  also have the specific on a particular property, you

          5  as your agency or your Department, or, in fact, your

          6  actual constituent can actually go on line and see

          7  what applications have been filed for a particular

          8  property.

          9                 This was information that was only

         10  had by people in the industry.

         11                 This is a huge piece of information

         12  that allows our Department to be transparent, allows

         13  you, the press and everyone else to be able to see

         14  into what's going on in the Department of Buildings.

         15                 To get to your second question, which

         16  is permits, when you come to the Buildings

         17  Department, we're talking specifically about Queens

         18  at the moment, Magdy Masad, who is the Commissioner

         19  there, these typically are usually all twos or even

         20  all threes, alteration type three, which means that

         21  there is no change in egress or occupancy. And there

         22  is a 48-hour time period flip. You walk in, you drop

         23  it off, you can get a plant exam and get an approval

         24  within two days for these types of drawings, which I

         25  would say is part of, again, trying to identify
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          2  targeted time frames, specifically for things that

          3  we use so that your business owner doesn't have to

          4  wait for us.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          6                 We have some questions from Council

          7  Member Weprin. And we've also been joined by

          8  Councilman Addabbo from Queens and Councilman Larry

          9  Seabrook from the Bronx.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Mr. Woloch,

         11  I'm going to address this to both of you, but I'm

         12  going to start with Mr. Woloch, because he refers in

         13  his testimony to "visual noise," and he's trying to

         14  protect the public from overall and geometric

         15  increase in the inescapable visual clutter and

         16  aesthetic pollution experienced daily by New

         17  Yorkers.

         18                 If the signs are visual noise, that's

         19  certainly written noise, because I'm not sure I know

         20  exactly what it means, but I'm particularly

         21  disturbed by a situation here where you have

         22  merchants that have been in business, mostly mom and

         23  pop stores, for, as Council Member Monserrate

         24  mentioned in this one particular case 20 odd years,

         25  but in my area sometimes 40 years, and I think we

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  have people waiting to testify.

          3                 Let me ask you a question: Under that

          4  definition of "overall and geometric increase in the

          5  inescapable visual clutter and aesthetic pollution,"

          6  would you consider a place that's called Tony's

          7  Place, which happens to be a pizzeria, but the name

          8  of the store is called Tony's place. The fact that

          9  the person wanted to put on his store, I don't know

         10  why, the word "pizza" because he happens to sell

         11  pizza, not pizzeria, would you consider that under

         12  your definition of visual noise because it violates

         13  the existing code because it uses the word "pizza,"

         14  even though pizza is not in the name of the

         15  establishment?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: No, I

         17  don't think that would. But I think the problem

         18  would be that you wouldn't just be broadening it in

         19  that way to allow a particular word, you would be

         20  broadening it so that every canopy in front of a

         21  business could not only have a clarifying word to

         22  let people know what the business is, but could

         23  eventually serve as an advertising mechanism, where

         24  you could have a picture of the pizza, where you

         25  could have a list of all the toppings on the pizza,
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          2  where you could have a picture of that pizza or you

          3  could have a list of all the toppings in the pizza,

          4  or you could have a picture of the pizzeria owner,

          5  and it broadens it tremendously, to the point where

          6  people I think would see this as just another way

          7  that there is advertising in their face.

          8                 And we believe that were this to

          9  become law, we would start to get lots of

         10  complaints.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: What about

         12  adding the word to pizza, heros, would you find that

         13  offensive?

         14                 COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: No, I wouldn't

         15  find that word --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: What about

         17  adding to "Tony's Place" the word soda being sold

         18  there, would you find that offensive?

         19                 COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: No, but the bill

         20  doesn't --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Let me finish.

         22  What about listing Tony's phone number so you know

         23  where to call if you want to -- you know, very often

         24  it's been the habit of my constituents to order

         25  pizza to be delivered, it's one of the items that's
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          2  a very common thing to get pizza delivered, and a

          3  lot of time parking, and all deference to the

          4  Transportation Department, is very difficult in a

          5  lot of these areas, so it would be very useful to

          6  have a consumer see the name of a phone number on a

          7  particular store like Tony's Pizza or Tony's Place,

          8  and be able to call to have the pizza delivered;

          9  would you find that offensive?

         10                 COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Again, one or

         11  two examples of additional language on an individual

         12  canopy probably would not bother most people, but

         13  there's a slippery slope, and I think that what the

         14  bill would do is allow more than just a phone

         15  number, more than just a word, it would allow

         16  potentially a lot more additional information. And

         17  that's the part that we think all of our

         18  constituents, or some of them, would have trouble

         19  with. And you know, something that occurred to us,

         20  you know, one of these hearings that we've had over

         21  the years with canopies is that there have been some

         22  communities that have some community boards that

         23  have come to us and ask that their streets become

         24  restricted streets, there can be on canopies. And if

         25  canopies were allowed to be used in this fashion so
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          2  that they became advertising tools and so you had

          3  not only phone numbers but lots of information about

          4  the service and pictures and things like that, the

          5  bill could actually backfire because you could have

          6  more community boards that would suggest, you know,

          7  we want our streets to be restricted streets, we

          8  don't want any canopies whatsoever.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. So, is

         10  it safe to say then that we amended our bill to say

         11  the merchants should be allowed to list three of

         12  four of the items that they sell along with the

         13  phone number, that you would not object to that

         14  legislation?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: I'm not

         16  sure exactly where the line is. All I know is that

         17  in its current form, it's certainly too much. And I

         18  think we should think about what the purpose of the

         19  canopies are. I mean to give as people are walking

         20  down the street a small amount of information, so

         21  that they know what's located there and also to

         22  provide sort of a dual purpose, to provide a

         23  protective cover, and I think in its current form

         24  it's living up to that role.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Well, that
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          2  might have been the case in 1961. The problem is

          3  that today, if you go along Union Turnpike in

          4  Queens, which I'm familiar with in my area, the

          5  awnings or canopies, whatever you want to call them

          6  are no longer there to provide a certain protection

          7  or shade, they're there specifically because they're

          8  the state-of-the-art sign that are used in almost

          9  every commercial establishment along Union Turnpike

         10  in Queens.

         11                 So, that's why I feel a problem with

         12  being governed by 1961 zoning resolution.

         13                 The other problem is, you talk about

         14  inconsistencies between this law and the zoning

         15  resolution, so I assume then you wouldn't have an

         16  objection to us revising the zoning resolutions to

         17  conform, so then that would eliminate that argument,

         18  right? If we conformed the zoning resolution to the

         19  proposed law, then you wouldn't have that objection,

         20  correct?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: As a

         22  regulatory agency we are to enforce the zoning

         23  resolution. So if the zoning resolution identified

         24  that to be the case, absolutely, there would be no

         25  issue.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. So, I

          3  think maybe the answer is to correct the zoning

          4  resolution, not to not correct the existing law

          5  governing it so we can make them both consistent.

          6                 I also share Council Member

          7  Monserrate's fear here where you throw out public

          8  safety when there's situations when there are, you

          9  know, clearly no danger to the public, where there's

         10  no danger of a sign falling, and it's just a

         11  question of a lot of cases signs being up there for

         12  20 and 30 years, never having fallen ever, and by

         13  your own testimony you don't know of any situation

         14  in the City of New York where a canopy has ever

         15  fallen, or an awning, very few in a reasonable

         16  period of time, so I find that hiding behind the

         17  guise of public safety to be disingenuous.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Well,

         19  Council member, if I could just respond to that?

         20                 What you hate to have happen at any

         21  of these agencies is to have a situation happen

         22  where somebody gets injured, and then the question

         23  is, well, why didn't you do anything to protect that

         24  person, and if the answer is, well, that problem

         25  hasn't happened before, that's unacceptable. And I
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          2  think over, just as the same token, just over the

          3  past year there hasn't been a fallen canopy, the

          4  Department of Transportation certainly hasn't done

          5  anything for a safety reason where we've taken down

          6  a canopy. This is an action that we want to have in

          7  reserve in that rare instance where there is a

          8  canopy that could be dangerous.

          9                 It certainly hasn't happened

         10  recently, but when it does happen, in that rare

         11  instance, we just want to be prepared, and when

         12  there is something that's dangerous, you want the

         13  ability to address it right away, you don't want to

         14  have to wait.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: In theory it

         16  sounds good.

         17                 The only problem I have is that I've

         18  taken a survey of my own, what I call my taxi driver

         19  survey, because whenever I go into the City I get

         20  the taxi drivers who very often have the most

         21  information about what is going on in the City, and

         22  I get information from them. I've also taken my own

         23  spotcheck of driving up and down Union Turnpike,

         24  Queens Boulevard, most of the avenues in Manhattan,

         25  or streets in Manhattan where they have mom and pop
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          2  type of stores, and I would guess, and I'm Chairman

          3  of the Finance Committee, I would love to see

          4  revenue for the City of New York, but I would guess

          5  that about 90 percent of the signs in the City of

          6  New York are currently in violation of this existing

          7  law, and if you're concerned about public safety,

          8  why aren't you affirmatively giving out tickets to

          9  all of these potentially dangerous signs, as opposed

         10  to responding to complaints?

         11                 The other problem I have with these

         12  complaint-driven situations is that I understand you

         13  also allow anonymous complaints; is that true?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: We do,

         15  yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. The

         17  problem with that is --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LIMANDRI: Let me

         19  just explain --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Let me finish.

         21  Let me finish, then you can get to it.

         22                 The problem with the anonymous

         23  complaint situation, I would like to address this in

         24  my legislation but I was advised not to put it in

         25  because of protection for whistle-blowers, and there
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          2  may be legitimate situations where people don't want

          3  to be harassed by people reporting and some reason,

          4  but I would think that you should give some

          5  discretion, because I can think of a number of cases

          6  where you have disgruntled ex-spouses, where you

          7  have competitors that have a gripe against a

          8  particular merchant, or in a particular case on

          9  Union Turnpike that I had a personal experience

         10  with, a particular home-owner who has a single

         11  family home directly across the street from stores.

         12  It's a mixed use area but predominantly commercial

         13  store owners, there's a woman who has had a beef

         14  with all the storeowners regarding the fact that she

         15  doesn't like the fact that there are stores across

         16  the street from her and she constantly gives the

         17  same complaint and it is apparently anonymous and

         18  can't be proven that it's her, but it's an anonymous

         19  complaint, and there's really, you know, a vehicle

         20  for abuse there. And I don't know what the answer

         21  is. I mean, how would you avoid that? How would you

         22  get around that?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Well,

         24  you explained it very succinctly, which is we do

         25  have to have a vehicle for anonymous complaints,
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          2  because that is very important, in order to get

          3  whistle-blowers and to get people to give us the

          4  information, because we don't have the number of

          5  inspectors that we might need to do all of this,

          6  that it's most important to use it in the most

          7  efficient way. So, complaint-driven is a real help

          8  to us.

          9                 The second piece is that if we had a

         10  particular constituent who consistently goes back

         11  and forth in the sense of consistently complains,

         12  once the complaint is taken it's not that that

         13  specific store owner would be treated any

         14  differently in that if there is a violation they

         15  need to correct it, and once they come into

         16  compliance it's not an issue.

         17                 If they give us seven complaints with

         18  regard to the same issue, we would not hold that

         19  business owner in a particular way.

         20                 And certainly if there's a specific

         21  that you'd like us to address, I certainly would do

         22  that for you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Do you keep a

         24  database, or do you make an attempt to find out the

         25  identity of a particular person complaining, or do
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          2  you just say, okay, you don't have to ask for their

          3  name or phone number?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Well,

          5  there's two things that I probably should talk

          6  about.

          7                 One is that we're very excited about

          8  the 311 initiative, which is today we have actually

          9  24 hour, seven day a week coverage, which we did not

         10  have before, in the same sense where you pick up the

         11  phone and you have a complaint for the Buildings

         12  Department, you actually talk to a live person,

         13  whereas before you had to actually go into a queue,

         14  then our inspector would have to get paged and we

         15  would have to call you back.

         16                 Today we actually have the ability to

         17  have the constituent speak to a specific person,

         18  that person goes through the methodology to

         19  understand if it's an emergency or not, and then we

         20  would respond directly.

         21                 The second piece is we ask if they

         22  want to be anonymous or not, we ask them for their

         23  name. If they choose not to, just like the Police

         24  Department, they have the right to not deliver that

         25  information.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay, suppose

          3  we were going to amend my legislation to allow for

          4  phone numbers of any establishment; do you have a

          5  problem with that?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI:

          7  Specifically phone numbers, descriptive words --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: No, no. Phone

          9  numbers of the establishment, not phone numbers of,

         10  you know, anybody.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: As the

         12  regulatory agency, that's not really our place to

         13  say whether it should be or not.

         14                 Unfortunately what's the best to do

         15  is to deliver this with City Planning and identify

         16  maybe an amendment to the zoning resolution.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Well, just in

         18  theory, though, would you have -- would that violate

         19  the overall geometric increase in the inescapable

         20  visual clutter and esthetic pollution experienced

         21  daily? Would that contribute to that?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: I

         23  didn't make that statement, but, frankly, that would

         24  be something that City Planning does every day, and

         25  as a regulatory agency we do not.

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: And I

          3  would certainly add that it would be less

          4  troublesome than the way the bill is written now.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. How many

          6  stores, would you say, in the City of New York, are

          7  currently in violation of the existing canopy and

          8  awning statutes, however, no one has complained

          9  about them? Can you give me an approximate

         10  percentage, do you think, based upon your

         11  independent observation.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: I really

         13  wouldn't hazard to guess. I don't know. I don't know

         14  the answer to that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: If you had to

         16  guess, what would you say? My guess is 90 percent.

         17  I'd like you to dispute that.

         18                 And if that's the case, why is the

         19  City of New York not enforcing the law for years and

         20  years if 90 percent of the stores have been in

         21  violation? I mean, if it's a public safety issue?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: I guess

         23  let's go back. What's written on the awning or store

         24  canopy is not what we're talking about as a public

         25  safety risk. We clearly discuss that --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: I'm glad you

          3  clarified that. In other words, so, there's no

          4  public safety risk at all of having any language on

          5  an awning or any phone number on an awning, or any

          6  merchandise sold on an awning?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Well,

          8  what I said was that the zoning resolution dictates

          9  what can go on a sign, what can go on an awning, how

         10  large it can be.

         11                 And, so that would be the place that

         12  we would go to for that information.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: The zoning

         14  resolution, though, affecting this particular area,

         15  was promulgated in 1961; is that correct?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: I don't

         17  know what area you're talking about.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Well, in the

         19  area of the law that we're talking about. The zoning

         20  resolution about signs and canopies was promulgated

         21  in 1961; is that correct?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: The

         23  zoning resolution gets updated on a regular basis.

         24  In fact, they just updated it most recently within a

         25  year.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: About this

          3  area? About canopies and awnings? My understanding

          4  is it's still in effect since 1961.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: My

          6  understanding is the zoning resolution added

          7  commercial and manufacturing districts on top of the

          8  other districts that were as part of their zoning

          9  resolution.

         10                 So, I know that there have been

         11  changes recently.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: To regulate

         13  what could be put on a sign?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: To

         15  regulate what districts fall into this category.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: No, but I'm

         17  talking about specifically what can be put on signs,

         18  other than the name and address of the

         19  establishment.

         20                 The zoning resolution that says you

         21  can only have a name and an address of an

         22  establishment on an awning, doesn't that go back to

         23  1961?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: I don't

         25  know specifically when that was written.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: My

          3  understanding is it goes back to 1961, and that 90

          4  percent of the stores of the City of New York are in

          5  violation of that particular aspect. I'm not talking

          6  about anything else. I'm just talking about only

          7  having the name and address.

          8                 What I would suggest is maybe the

          9  Department, either one of our Departments, do a

         10  little survey as to how many stores, and that's

         11  probably the easiest to focus on, rather than inches

         12  or lengths, because that's harder, you've got to

         13  measure it, you've got to go there, I think you just

         14  drive up and down various avenues and parkways and

         15  you'd see that there's more than a name and an

         16  address of an establishment.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         19                 And we have one question from Council

         20  Member Sears.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair.

         23                 I ask this because I really don't

         24  know. You talked about outreach, that seems to be a

         25  major concern. Consumer Affairs that does so much
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          2  licensing, is it something that you would be able to

          3  coordinate, in terms of the brochure you have, and

          4  what the rules and regulations are? Because when I

          5  get a license to open a business, obviously I'm

          6  going to do some major renovations, and the signage,

          7  or whatever I plan to do with it, is very key.

          8                 Would that be helpful to those

          9  entrepreneurs?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: I'm

         11  glad you brought that up.

         12                 We have actually worked with other

         13  agencies, for example, on home improvement

         14  contractors, in this very same way, where we needed

         15  information to make sure that that home improvement

         16  contractor was licensed. And, so, we certainly could

         17  reach out to Consumer Affairs, to talk to them about

         18  the information that we have, and give them a brief,

         19  we could write a brief summary of information and we

         20  could allow them to include that in their packet,

         21  absolutely. That's a great idea.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         23  Because I think that would be extremely helpful.

         24                 And I have a comment, with all due

         25  respect to the two pieces of proposed legislation. I

                                                            75

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  think we need to separate, as you did, the awnings

          3  and the canopies and what is safety and what is

          4  truly against the law and what is aesthetically

          5  offensive.

          6                 These complaints, I mean the actions

          7  are complaint-driven and community boards, the BIDs

          8  that you have so stated get these complaints, the

          9  elected officials get these complaints, and without

         10  some standard form of compliance, we would have a

         11  myriad of the most horrendous and outrageous

         12  advertising, because that's what happens with the

         13  signage, it becomes a form of advertising.

         14                 So, I think that, and I'm asking that

         15  the legislations be looked at very carefully, we

         16  have to have some corrections in them, that we need

         17  to do that. But outreach is very key because with

         18  all due respect to the merchants, most of them, and

         19  I would agree, do not know what the law is, and I

         20  think as a result, they need to be greatly assisted

         21  in finding that out.

         22                 The awnings are torn, they flap in

         23  the wind, they are horrendously filthy, they have

         24  pigeon droppings all over them that are very

         25  unhealthy, which brings to mind that the Board of
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          2  Health may also be a resource of having your

          3  information distributed, because they do get

          4  complaints, and they do go into places, but it's the

          5  coordination of one agency with another. So that

          6  it's one of a distribution of information.

          7                 I think that's very key in what you

          8  basically are doing and for your legislation.

          9                 I empathize with the merchant. These

         10  merchants are in communities and it is the

         11  communities that support them, and many of the

         12  merchants, and perhaps due to financing, or other

         13  things, and we should look at the small business

         14  community, perhaps assisting in either compliance

         15  with the law or maintaining.

         16                 When something is up for 25 years or

         17  30 years, I find it extremely difficult to believe

         18  that with the climatic conditions in New York City,

         19  that sign is the same as it was the day it was put

         20  up, I would find that hard to believe.

         21                 And I also think that what hasn't

         22  been enforced for this Administration, and I would

         23  agree, there have been years without enforcement,

         24  and all of a sudden it looks as if it's punitive,

         25  it's really not. It's really not.
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          2                 I think if we were to have all 59

          3  community boards in this room, I think you would

          4  have one side and one side.

          5                 I support my colleagues for their

          6  concerns, and I feel that perhaps these bills would

          7  be able to come out with something working with you

          8  that might be suitable.

          9                 But I don't think that we should lose

         10  sight of the fact that the rules and regulations are

         11  made so that these communities not only are safer,

         12  but aesthetically, because we live with the

         13  consistent offenses of disregard for the quality of

         14  life. It's not just in the signages and in the

         15  canopies, it's every place, and I do think that

         16  merchants are being very insensitive when they

         17  believe that the residents of that community are not

         18  offended by the insensitivity to their quality of

         19  life, which is not only noise, it is not only sound,

         20  it is not only going through red lights, it happens

         21  to be the aesthetics of a community. The way we care

         22  for a tree and a flower, people care about how their

         23  communities look, so with that I thank you, and I

         24  have to leave.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,
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          2  Councilwoman.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

          4  much. And if you could do some of those suggestions,

          5  I think it would be very helpful in having merchants

          6  comply with your rules and regulations.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          8  Member Sears.

          9                 I just want to remind you to provide

         10  us with that statistical information that Council

         11  Member Monserrate had requested, if possible, the

         12  description of the violation, a summary and a

         13  description of the violations issued over the last

         14  five years. And I'd like to add one thing, if

         15  possible, to give us a breakdown by borough, or if

         16  possible, by community board, just so we get a sense

         17  of where the violations have taken place.

         18                 This is just directed to the

         19  Department of Buildings.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Yes.

         21  What we will do is we will provide you the

         22  information as we can retrieve it as best we can out

         23  of our building information system.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. And let

         25  me also say that we have had this hearing on two of
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          2  these bills simultaneously, while they both pertain

          3  to awnings and canopies, obviously there are

          4  different issues involved, so I just wanted to

          5  briefly state that it appears that 365, the main

          6  concern of the Administration seems to be that of

          7  aesthetics, and on what structures advertising

          8  should be allowed; whereas, on Intro. 305, it

          9  appears that there is a public safety concern; would

         10  that be accurate in my characterization?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: I would

         12  say that for Intro. 365, why we cannot support the

         13  bill is because it was in direct conflict with the

         14  zoning resolution.

         15                 The second piece is that 305 requires

         16  us to put this particular enforcement mechanism into

         17  the different protocol than we do for all of the

         18  other thousands of violations we write, therefore

         19  for these specific ones we would have to do

         20  something different; and, so, therefore, it would

         21  require additional monies and different enforcement

         22  capability, and it does get confusing to the public.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: And from

         24  the Department of Transportation's perspective, in

         25  terms of 365, you are correct, it's an aesthetic
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          2  concern, in terms of the first bill, it has both the

          3  safety element, but also a static and quality of

          4  life concern, that there is too much time that's

          5  allowed for corrections to be made, that that

          6  wouldn't necessarily be in the interest of the

          7  community, particularly in terms of canopies, since

          8  the system as it exists now seems to be working

          9  fairly well.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Let me wrap up by

         11  saying that Intro. 365, while there is a link to the

         12  zoning resolution, and, of course, we want to be

         13  consistent with the zoning resolution, or if

         14  necessary we'll have local law supersede the zoning

         15  resolution, I think it still sounds like the issue

         16  with regard to 365, is one of aesthetics.

         17                 Both of your Departments have placed

         18  an emphasis on public safety with regard to 365, and

         19  why you would oppose 365, it does seem the emphasis

         20  has, the major, the biggest reason why both of your

         21  Departments oppose Intro. 305 is for public safety

         22  reasons. And as Council Member, both Council Members

         23  Monserrate and Weprin pointed out, that no one,

         24  particularly the members of the City Council, wants

         25  to get in the way of promoting and enhancing public
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          2  safety, but that simply can't be an excuse not to do

          3  anything.

          4                 And when there is a prevailing

          5  thought and feeling out there, that the vast

          6  majority of the canopies that already exist today

          7  are in violation, if public safety is truly a

          8  concern, then you have to be more proactive about

          9  that, we can't simply follow this complaint-driven

         10  process to rectify public safety issues.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Let me

         12  just clarify.

         13                 Public safety, with regard to the

         14  amount of time you want us to give to a constituent

         15  in order to rectify the situation, that was the

         16  public safety piece. The other piece is not directly

         17  on public safety, it's with regard to the

         18  adjudication process and treating these violations

         19  differently and it would, for a very small slice of

         20  the total pie of violations that we do, we would

         21  have to create additional, we would have to spend

         22  additional money, and it would be an inefficient use

         23  of our time in adjudicating those which are not

         24  necessarily safety related, they could be related to

         25  specifics of what's on the canopy itself, okay?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          3                 One brief item for Council Member

          4  Sears to add.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Sorry about

          6  that, but thank you.

          7                 In terms of the certified letter, you

          8  didn't mention anything about that. Do you think

          9  that is a good idea? Do you think that it would

         10  delay and give you a backlog?

         11                 Would it be better to perhaps work

         12  with an extended period in which to by normal notice

         13  that they are in violation? I mean, it seems a

         14  certified letter could give you a big back-up.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: I guess

         16  in the larger picture we have a protocol in place,

         17  which allows a business owner to take responsive

         18  action, and there's a 30-day cure period after a

         19  violation is written, there's also, if that person

         20  can't get it done before a 60-day period, the fines

         21  are in half.

         22                 So, there is a process in place. One

         23  of the things that I know that the Council is very

         24  interested in is not to erode the ability and the

         25  teeth that our department has in the enforcement of
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          2  violations. This is really important. And, so, it's

          3  very important to make sure that we don't erode that

          4  ability.

          5                 By adding time, creating another

          6  certified letter, what ends up happening is that

          7  people just look at it as a way of doing business

          8  and will not pay attention.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. And we

         11  look forward to working with both of your

         12  departments to see if there are any measures that

         13  can be taken in order to gain the Administration's

         14  support.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Thank

         16  you.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LiMANDRI: Thank

         18  you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Let me ask, we have

         20  two panels of business owners that would like to

         21  testify and we would like to hear from you.

         22                 Let me ask Brad Feidman and James

         23  Gheraydi, and I'd like --

         24                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: I

         25  have a question for the Department of Buildings.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That you can call

          3  the Department of Buildings for. This is a City

          4  Council hearing, and you can ask questions of us, if

          5  you'd like.

          6                 And I'd like to ask the next panel to

          7  prepare to testify after this current panel

          8  testifies.

          9                 The next panel will be Ruben Pena,

         10  Jose Eduardo Giraldo, and Patricia Mahecha.

         11                 Gentlemen, thank you for patiently

         12  waiting for such a long time.

         13                 MR. GHERAYDI: My name is James

         14  Gheraydi, and I own property on 180th street and

         15  Union Turnpike. We've owned this property since

         16  1968, and in all of those years, we have had a

         17  series of tenants come and go, some of which have

         18  been with us for about 25 years, some for as little

         19  as two or three months.

         20                 But in all of that time, until 2001,

         21  we have never received any violations whatsoever

         22  pertaining to the awnings.

         23                 All of a sudden in 2001, at 180-18

         24  Union Turnpike, which was and is an appliance store,

         25  a violation was handed out to the tenant in that

                                                            85

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  store, but the violation was not through that store,

          3  but was in fact for the adjacent stores at 180-22,

          4  180-26 and 180-30, and they were multiple.

          5                 So, now here we have a tenant who has

          6  nothing to do with the supposed violation being

          7  handed this violation.

          8                 At the same time as the landlord, we

          9  were not informed of this violation, because unlike

         10  what the gentleman from the Department of Buildings

         11  intimated, that the party in interest is the store

         12  owner, in fact, the law makes the party in interest

         13  the land owner, or the owner of the property. For if

         14  the tenant fails to inform the landlord, or if the

         15  tenant were to leave, or if the tenant were to throw

         16  the violation in the garbage pail, the landlord

         17  might not find out about this thing for another 30

         18  days, when the Department of Buildings sends them a

         19  letter stating these violations and the fact that

         20  they are now subject to a hearing, and if they fail

         21  to appear at the hearing, they would have to pay

         22  $2,500 for each one of these violations.

         23                 Well, the violation, when you look at

         24  the back, gives you 30 days to correct it. Well, 30

         25  days are gone because they did not inform the party
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          2  in interest.

          3                 In addition, as I wanted to find out

          4  from the Department of Transportation, because it

          5  was news to me today, I've been dealing with this

          6  for the last year and a half, that somehow the

          7  Department of Transportation is involved because of

          8  the canopy.

          9                 Well, I've never received a

         10  violation, nor have any of my tenants, to the best

         11  of my knowledge received a violation from the

         12  Department of Transportation, but rather the

         13  Building Department issued a violation on the

         14  canopy. So, my question is, did the Building

         15  Department illegally issue a violation against us,

         16  and precipitated an endless series of fines that

         17  have been paid by me in the case where one of my

         18  tenants skipped out in the night, or my tenants who

         19  are still there and have paid these violations,

         20  okay?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, I am certainly

         22  not a spokesperson for the Department of

         23  Transportation, but from what the testimony said

         24  that was presented to us, it appears that with

         25  regard to awnings, the Department of Transportation
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          2  has nothing to do with that; whereas, with regard to

          3  canopies, both Departments have some area of

          4  jurisdiction.

          5                 MR. GHERAYDI: Well, I must tell you,

          6  none of my tenants, including the guy that skipped

          7  out, had anything but canopies; so how is it that

          8  the Department of Transportation --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, I think both

         10  Departments have some jurisdiction over canopies,

         11  whereas, only the Department of Buildings has

         12  jurisdiction over awnings.

         13                 So, with regard to canopies,

         14  according to their testimony, both Departments have

         15  jurisdiction.

         16                 I also at this point need to ask both

         17  of you gentlemen to be as succinct as possible in

         18  your comments.

         19                 Just because we are preparing to have

         20  the next hearing commence.

         21                 MR. GHERAYDI: Okay. Well, I told you,

         22  the bill is proposing 90 days for corrections, and I

         23  think that's fair, and the bill is providing for

         24  notification by certified mail.

         25                 This would be the only way that an
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          2  owner might know. There are owners, I live in

          3  California, but there are owners of real property

          4  that live in California. Now, the Building

          5  Department and the Tax Department certainly knows

          6  where they live, they know their name, and when they

          7  issue the violation to my tenants, they don't issue

          8  it to my tenants, they issue it to us.

          9                 So, they issued a violation to us,

         10  and they give it to the tenant. Well, something is

         11  radically wrong. And I presented this only a week

         12  and a half ago to an administrative law judge who is

         13  seeking to find me, because the tenant didn't take

         14  down the canopy.

         15                 Now, I said to her, and I pose it to

         16  you, if I, as the landlord, am told to take down the

         17  canopy, but it belongs to Mr. Jones, how can I

         18  legally do that? I cannot simply go and tear it

         19  down. I have to adjudicate it.

         20                 So, it would seem to me that that

         21  violation should be given at least 90 days, sent by

         22  certified, and the failure of the landlord to take

         23  action is evidenced by, should be one of two things,

         24  either he takes it down, his tenant takes it down,

         25  or failing to do that, the only thing a landlord can
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          2  do is start litigation for violation of his lease

          3  which states that the tenant must be in conformance

          4  with all the laws of the City of New York.

          5                 So, to fine the landlord $2,500

          6  because he doesn't want to commit a criminal act,

          7  seems ludicrous on the face of it.

          8                 So, it must have some semblance of

          9  reasonableness.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, sir.

         11                 Your point is well taken, and, in

         12  fact, it is the basis for this legislation.

         13                 MR. GHERAYDI: That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Can I ask the next

         15  gentleman to testify?

         16                 MR. FELDMAN: Hello. How you doing? My

         17  name is Brad Feldman, and I am owner of Northern

         18  Home Appliance, at 180-18 Union Turnpike.

         19                 I have too many things to say and I

         20  know everyone wants to go on to the next process at

         21  hand. I look around and I see a lot of store owners

         22  not here, and I realize now why they're not here. I

         23  usually make very good decisions in my life. By

         24  coming in here I feel it has been a waste of my

         25  time.
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          2                 I was asked to come in here, I could

          3  see what has gone on here, it means absolutely

          4  nothing. Nothing against anyone at that table,

          5  especially the two of you which I think are very

          6  fine people and have made a decision to try to make

          7  some changes, and I'm there for you, I know you and

          8  I appreciate everything that's done.

          9                 The City has a lot of problems. This

         10  meeting here today is not going to change a lot. I

         11  have an appliance store, today is the first day

         12  where it's 80 degrees out, I should be in my store

         13  selling air conditioners. I'm not there. I'm losing

         14  a lot more than all my fines by being here today.

         15                 I have over here where I thought the

         16  Building Department and whoever other people were

         17  going to be here, were going to listen to a certain

         18  amount of things.

         19                 I have two Department of Buildings

         20  violations over here and my original one. They say

         21  that there are people out enforcing all these bills

         22  and everything that's going on, yet three months

         23  separate apart, with the two separate signs, that

         24  I've been fined, the same person that signed this, a

         25  Philip something over here, wrote two different
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          2  things on the same piece of paper. One says having

          3  installed two awnings without a permit, and having a

          4  light; the other one says having installed one

          5  awning with a permit and one sign.

          6                 So, they're saying that all of it is

          7  written on these things for us to know as business

          8  owners. I'm not an idiot. This is how they say this

          9  is how we're supposed to know what's going on. So,

         10  when I called the City and I got through to plenty,

         11  plenty people, we met, and I think Mr. Weprin was

         12  there with us in the library that day, and they

         13  bought the Building Department down for us, and we

         14  went over everything, finally after a bunch of

         15  hogwash going on, which I believe was part of what

         16  went on here today, finally I got up and I said, you

         17  know what? I'm going to go back to my store to make

         18  some money so I can pay for some of the fines, which

         19  is, by the way, by the time I'm done with my two

         20  awnings and an $800 stipulation and another $2,000

         21  stipulation, that they're trying to get from me,

         22  which I refuse to pay, I said put me in jail before

         23  I pay you another $2,000. I have proof, I have

         24  cancelled checks to show them, I said to Mr. Weprin,

         25  take your cell phone out if you can, and since the
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          2  Building Inspector is here, I want that Building

          3  Inspector to know that first I have called, and I

          4  think her -- in my notes here, I think her name is,

          5  I think it was a Patricia, I believe a Patricia

          6  Lancaster, I could be wrong with the name.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Patricia

          8  Lancaster is the overall Commissioner. Everybody

          9  works for her.

         10                 MR. FELDMAN: Okay, nothing against

         11  her personally, I never got to get in touch with

         12  her, but after calling her four or five times in her

         13  office, and everybody saying you can't speak to her,

         14  she's the head person, I said, well, no one

         15  underneath her can answer any questions, cannot

         16  answer why I paid an $800 stipulation fine to the

         17  City, and now they're saying when I go to get my

         18  permits and everything is legal, unless I pay a

         19  $2,000 civil penalty now, which has been going on

         20  for a year, even though my fines have been

         21  corrected, I'm not getting my permits.

         22                 So, it's a safety issue according to

         23  them, that the awnings won't fall on everybody's

         24  head for the last 40 years, meanwhile, when my

         25  inspector came down to give me my signed permits, he
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          2  didn't even look to see where the light was

          3  underneath it so he said I had a light when I

          4  didn't. And he comes back again and says yes. He

          5  never checked the sign, but we're all worried about

          6  these signs are going to fall on people's heads.

          7                 This has nothing to do with safety at

          8  all. And I think it is horrible that it was even

          9  brought up in this room about safety. There is no

         10  safety. These signs can fall on everybody's head,

         11  and they will. They go ahead in front of everybody

         12  here, they should be embarrassed, that they went

         13  ahead and said, oh, very few canopies and signs have

         14  fallen on people, you don't know how many signs have

         15  fallen down because you're not out there looking at

         16  it.

         17                 You're sending an uneducated person

         18  to go out who doesn't even know the law, because I

         19  have proof right here on two different violations,

         20  four months separate, by the same person and wrote

         21  two different fines up, because didn't even realize

         22  what he wrote the last time.

         23                 So, when I brought it up in this

         24  library, Mr. Weprin and some other people were

         25  there, about all of these problems, how I tried to
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          2  get with Patricia, and finally, the girl, the

          3  secretary there said, and I'm sorry I don't have a

          4  name, said, well, I understand your frustration and

          5  she will get back to you.

          6                 Well, I'm glad that she's doing a

          7  great job doing it, and I know the Buildings

          8  Department said everything's changed and

          9  everything's better, well, that's great because I

         10  have not received a phone call. I've faxed them my

         11  phone number, I've given them my fax number, I have

         12  gotten nothing. Because I will not pay this $2,000

         13  penalty when I have legal proof.

         14                 When I called the Building

         15  Department, and there was a man at the Building

         16  Department that day, getting back to the phone call,

         17  Mr. Weprin took his cell phone, and I said I want

         18  him to know, he called on his phone, he got through

         19  to the Department and asked the questions that I

         20  want to know, how to take care of these legal

         21  problems, and we got hung up on. Then he called back

         22  again and they transferred him to a different

         23  number.

         24                 Well, finally we got the solution. Do

         25  you know what the solution was? The other person,
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          2  the uneducated person on the other phone from the

          3  City of New York, which I used to love dearly, went

          4  ahead and gave us the Fashion Institute of

          5  Technology's telephone number.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sir, we understand

          7  that there are some severe problems with the

          8  process, and we try to rectify as many problems as

          9  possible through legislation and that's in fact why

         10  we're debating these bills today.

         11                 With regard to your specific

         12  problems, if there's anything we can help you with,

         13  I'd be glad to stay behind with Council Member

         14  Weprin to figure out how to get the answers that you

         15  request. At this time I do need to move the hearing

         16  forward.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Why don't you

         18  state your position on the bill?

         19                 MR. FELDMAN: If you want to know

         20  about the bill, just quickly, and unfortunately I

         21  won't be able to tell you other things that happened

         22  there, because I'm sure everyone in this room would

         23  like to know, the reason why we do need to changes

         24  these laws is very simple: I started a business six

         25  years ago, we were told to tell you how hard we
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          2  work. I wake up at 6:00 in the morning, I come home

          3  at 9:00 in the morning (sic). I've been held up in a

          4  beautiful neighborhood with four guns put to my

          5  head. Those are things that I have to deal with

          6  every day. And I don't mind dealing with them. When

          7  I was held up, I came back the next morning. But

          8  when I get sign permits for thousands and thousands

          9  of dollars, and it's not being done for the reason

         10  that it should be done, I get a little upset.

         11                 And why do I need a letter bigger

         12  than eleven inches, which is on this little sign

         13  here, okay? Because I had to take down this sign,

         14  that all it said was Northern Home Appliance, with

         15  an EnergyStar sticker, when New York City, the

         16  state, gave me money, $500 to put it on my sign. I

         17  ripped down my sign for $3,500 put a nice new sign,

         18  and then someone came by and said, oh, I'm sorry,

         19  it's not 12 inches, it's 13 inches, and you have a

         20  logo on your sign. So I had to rip that down now.

         21  Now I have another new sign to put on.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, is it fair to

         23  say that you are in favor of Intro. 305?

         24                 MR. FELDMAN: Yes, I'm in favor of it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And 365?
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          2                 MR. FELDMAN: I am in favor of it

          3  because the only way we can compete against the

          4  Leows, the Home Depots, the Wal-Marts, Sears and

          5  everybody else is by having, they have 10-foot signs

          6  and 20-foot signs, we can't have 11 and 12-inch

          7  letters. I'm not going to be able to stay in

          8  business like that, and the only way by doing it is

          9  getting some of these laws passed, so at least maybe

         10  the small businessman in the City has a fighting

         11  chance.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 And let me ask the final panel to

         15  join us.

         16                 Ruben Pena.

         17                 MR. FELDMAN: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Ruben Pena and Jose

         19  Giraldo.

         20                 Mr. Pena.

         21                 Gentlemen, thank you for your

         22  patience. Please have a seat and press the button so

         23  that the red light is off and proceed with your

         24  comments.

         25                 MR. PENA: My name is Ruben Pena, I
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          2  represent more than 125 merchants in North Corona.

          3                 The reason I'm here today is to be in

          4  favor of the legislation that you Councilmen are

          5  trying to pass, and we appreciate if that law is

          6  passed to alleviate the suffering and problems that

          7  the small merchants have all over the City.

          8                 Regarding the regulation of the

          9  Building Department, 99 percent of the signs are

         10  illegal. But one of the things that the Building

         11  Department enforced, a 42-year-old law, without

         12  warning to nobody. They send inspectors to give

         13  tickets to the people, and one of the problems, the

         14  main problems, is that this inspector never handles

         15  the violation to the person, to the merchant. I

         16  don't know what they do with it. I was victim of

         17  that problem. I had my store by the time the

         18  inspector was there, I never received violation. A

         19  lot of agencies like the parking department, they

         20  put a ticket in your windshield and then they send

         21  you a notice that you have a ticket, and then if you

         22  don't pay, you have a fine.

         23                 The Building Department doesn't do

         24  that. It's a real abuse against the merchants,

         25  because what happened? They don't give you the

                                                            99

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  violation, and at the end of 30 days you receive a

          3  fine. I receive a fine for my sign for $3,200 but I

          4  was able to hire a lawyer and remove the fines

          5  because it was illegal, they didn't deliver the

          6  violations to me.

          7                 Now, when other agencies, and DEP,

          8  wants water meters in the houses, they give 90 days

          9  to the people, the City of New York to have a meter,

         10  and they didn't have a meter, to at least fill out

         11  an application, then you have a fine. What the

         12  Building Department is doing is absolutely wrong.

         13  They have fined thousands of dollars for the small

         14  businesses for these violations, which they should

         15  return the money to them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Now, sir, is it fair

         17  to say that you are testifying in full support of

         18  both of these bills that we are considering today?

         19                 MR. PENA: Yes, I do. Because we

         20  alleviate the merchants, and you see because it's

         21  dangerous economical and the way they are doing is

         22  discriminatory. As I said before, 99 percent,

         23  according to the regulation I just got today,

         24  according to the regulations, 99 percent of the

         25  signs are wrong, are in violations.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

          3                 MR. PENA: So, if they are in

          4  violations, how come they going to this person and

          5  taking the sign over there and then over there?

          6  People feel discriminated in that way.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think from the

          8  comments that the Council member spoke about

          9  already, I think you will understand that we

         10  understand the difficulties you are going through

         11  which is why we're considering this legislation.

         12                 Can I ask Mr. Giraldo to give us your

         13  comments?

         14                 MR. GIRALDO: Good afternoon. My name

         15  is Eduardo Giraldo. I'm the President of the

         16  Hispanic Chamber of Commerce of Queens. I'm also a

         17  business owner, in favor of the new laws, and I also

         18  represent more than 420 small business owners in

         19  Queens.

         20                 The real problem also with the

         21  Buildings Department people is, I don't think they

         22  know what they're doing. The only clear they know

         23  what they're doing is how to collect money, because

         24  the people who are giving the tickets, they don't

         25  know how to give the tickets out.
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          2                 I will speak myself because I have

          3  that issue. I own a business, and I have a big sign

          4  and the ticket was given to the owner of a grocery

          5  store, but it was written to the business, to the

          6  building, to the landlord. So, when the person went

          7  to the court to represent himself, they say, well,

          8  it's not my sign, I'm not responsible. Yeah, you're

          9  right, it's not your sign, go back home. It's the

         10  landlord's name. So it goes back to the landlord,

         11  the landlord say, well, that's not my sign, my

         12  tenant's sign. So the landlord gives the ticket to

         13  myself, I go to court, he say, well, the ticket is

         14  your sign? Yeah, it's my sign. He say, yeah, well

         15  the ticket wasn't given to you, it was given to the

         16  landlord, so the landlord should be here. I said,

         17  yeah, but the landlord told me that I gotta pay the

         18  ticket. He said, well, if you want to pay me now,

         19  give me $800, remove the sign or you're going to

         20  have to pay $2,000 the next time you come back here.

         21  I say I never was served, I don't think this is

         22  properly right. He said, listen, sir, you have no

         23  right to be here because the ticket was not given to

         24  you.

         25                 So I don't think the people who are
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          2  given the ticket know what they're doing, and if

          3  they're going to do the right thing, if they want us

          4  to pay money, they all should know, serve the people

          5  right. It has to be like you say, certify mail, give

          6  them plenty of time to respond, because I think we

          7  are trying to obey the laws in New York. We have

          8  small business owners and we try to go by everything

          9  the City says and I think they're trying to rip us

         10  off.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         12                 Let me thank both of you for staying

         13  so long with us today, and taking so much time out

         14  of your busy schedules.

         15                 Thank Council Members Weprin and

         16  Monserrate for introducing these two important

         17  bills, which we will  hear again at a later date.

         18  And finally, thank the participants in today's

         19  public safety and Health Committee hearings for

         20  letting us finish our hearing.

         21                 Thank you. This meeting of the

         22  Transportation Committee is adjourned.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 1:41 p.m.)

         24
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 15th day of April 2003.
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